**Research report** 

### The feasibility of constructing a race equality index

by Anthony Heath and Yaojun Li



Department for Work and Pensions Department for Work and Pensions

**Research Report No 695** 

# The feasibility of constructing a race equality index

Anthony Heath and Yaojun Li

A report of research carried out by Department of Sociology, Oxford University and the Institute for Social Change, Manchester University on behalf of the Department for Work and Pensions

© Crown copyright 2010.

You may re-use this information (not including logos) free of charge in any format or medium, under the terms of the Open Government Licence.

To view this licence, visit http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/ or write to the Information Policy Team, The National Archives, Kew, London TW9 4DU, or e-mail: psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk.

This document/publication is also available on our website at: http://research.dwp.gov.uk/asd/asd5/rrs-index.asp

Any enquiries regarding this document/publication should be sent to us at: Department for Work and Pensions, Commercial Support and Knowledge Management Team, Work and Welfare Central Analysis Division, 3rd Floor, Caxton House, Tothill Street, London SW1H 9NA

First published 2010.

ISBN 978 1 84712 844 7

Views expressed in this report are not necessarily those of the Department for Work and Pensions or any other Government Department.

# Contents

Acl	knowle	edgements	V
The	e Auth	ors	vi
Ab	breviat	tions	vii
Glo	ssary	of terms	ix
Sur	nmary	/	1
1	Backg	ground	5
	1.1	Aims and objectives	5
	1.2	Previous work	5
	1.3	General considerations	6
2	What	are the information needs of a race equality index?	9
	2.1	Possible components of an index	9
	2.2	Direct racial discrimination	9
	2.3	Indirect discrimination	.10
	2.4	Harassment and the 'chill factor'	.11
	2.5	Other employer-side action	.12
	2.6	'Outcome' measures	.12
3	Possit	ole tools for measuring the different components	. 15
	3.1	Tools for measuring direct discrimination	.15
	3.2	Tools for measuring adherence to the statutory code	.16
	3.3	Tools for measuring the 'chill factor'	.17
	3.4	Tools for measuring outcomes	.17
4	Practi	ical issues of measurement and recent trends	.19
	4.1	Job refusals and unfair treatment in promotion	.19
	4.2	Adherence to the statutory code of practice	.21
	4.3	Self-reported prejudice	.24
	4.4	Under-representation in private-sector firms	.25

5	Can t be m	he private sector's contribution to reducing the ethnic minority employment gap easured with existing data sources?	33
	5.1	Constructing a measure of how discrimination occurs	33
	5.2	Constructing an outcome measure of fair employment	34
6	Conc	lusions	39
Ap	pendi>	A The National Employment Panel's index	41
Ap	pendi>	B Adjusting for geography and individual characteristics	43
Re	ferenc	es	45

#### List of tables

Table 4.1	Trends in self-reported job refusals in recruitment and unfair treatment in promotion 2003-2008/09	. 20
Table 4.2	Adjusted trends in self-reported job refusals in recruitment and unfair treatment in promotion 2003-2008/09	.21
Table 4.3	Trends in the private sector's adherence to the statutory code of practice 1998-2004	. 22
Table 4.4	Public or private sector differences in adherence to the statutory code of practice	.23
Table 4.5	Trends in racial prejudice among white private-sector employees, 2001-08	. 24
Table 4.6	Trends in ethnic minority under-representation in the private sector, 2001-09	.26
Table 4.7	Adjusted trends in ethnic minority under-representation in the private sector, 2001-09	.27
Table 4.8	Trends in ethnic minority under-representation in managerial positions in the private sector, 2001-09	. 28
Table 4.9	Adjusted trends in ethnic minority under-representation in managerial positions in the private sector, 2001-09	. 29
Table 4.10	Trends in mean hourly pay (£) in private sector employment by sex, 2001-09	. 30
Table 4.11	Adjusted trends in mean hourly pay differentials in private sector employment by sex, 2001-09	. 31

#### List of figures

Figure 5.1	The index of race inequality in the private sector 2001-09	35
Figure 5.2	The index of race inequality in the private sector by gender, 2001-09	36

### Acknowledgements

The Universities of Oxford and Manchester were commissioned by the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) to report on the feasibility of constructing a race equality index. We would like to express our thanks to our very helpful project manager at the DWP, Pauline Heather, and to Bruce Byrne and Darren Woolfenden (both also from the DWP), Tony Strutt and Jenny Harland from the Government Equalities Office (GEO), Mark McConaghy from the Department for Business, Innovation and Skills (BIS), and Andrew Meads from the Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC), who formed the steering group for this project. We are very grateful to them for their support and constructive comments and suggestions.

We would also like to thank our academic colleagues Professor Christopher McCrudden, Sir David Cox, Professor Tom Snijders, and Professor Mike Noon for their advice on the various legal, statistical and substantive issues that we confronted during our research.

We also received essential support, for which we are very grateful, from Jane Roberts (Nuffield College Data Library) and Jane Greig (Department of Sociology, Oxford University).

# The Authors

Anthony Heath, FBA is Professor of Sociology at the University of Oxford and a Professorial Fellow of Nuffield College, Oxford. He is currently directing the Ethnic Minority British Election Survey (funded by the Economic and Social Research Council (ESRC)). He is also working on a project (funded by the Nuffield Foundation) assessing the effects of the Northern Ireland affirmative action programme and on a further project (funded by the Leverhulme Trust) on ethno-religious diversity and social cohesion. He has previously worked on reports for the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) in Bosnia and Herzegovina on social capital, for the Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) on the labour market integration of the second generation, for Lord Goldsmith's review of Citizenship, for Communities and Local Government on social cohesion, as well as for the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP). He is a member of the department's Ethnic Minority Advisory Group.

**Yaojun Li** is Professor of Sociology at the Institute for Social Change (ISC), University of Manchester. He has just completed (with colleagues at the ISC) a report for the Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) on 'Civic life in Britain' and will begin, from September 2010, a major, five-year, project on 'Social Complexity of Immigration and Diversity' (funded by the Engineering and Physical Sciences Research Council) with colleagues at the University of Manchester and Manchester Metropolitan University. He has previously worked on 'Equality group inequalities in education, employment and earnings' funded by the EHRC and on 'Measuring the size of the employer contribution to the ethnic minority employment gap' for the National Employment Panel (NEP). He has conducted several projects funded by the ESRC on 'Ethnic Minority Entrepreneurship', 'Socio-economic position and political support of the Black and Minority Ethnics (BME)', and 'Social capital: developing a measure and assessing its value in social research'. He also worked on 'The profile of the housing and socio-economic circumstances of black and minority ethnic people in Wales' funded by the National Assembly of Wales. He is a forum member of the Runnymede Trust.

# Abbreviations

ASHE	Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings
BIS	Business, Innovation and Skills
BSA	British Social Attitudes survey
CLG	Communities and Local Government
CRE	Commission for Racial Equality
CS	Citizenship Survey
DWP	Department for Work and Pensions
ECNI	Equality Commission for Northern Ireland
EHRC	Equality and Human Rights Commission
EMs	Ethnic Minorities
EO	Equal Opportunities
EOP	Equal Opportunities Policy
ESRC	Economic and Social Research Council
FTWS	Fair Treatment at Work Survey
GEO	Government Equalities Office
ILO	International Labour Office
ISC	Institute for Social Change
LFS	Labour Force Survey
NatCen	National Centre for Social Research
NEP	National Employment Panel
QUANGO	Quasi Autonomous National Government Organisation
SME	Small and Medium-sized Enterprises
WERS	Workplace Employment Relations Survey

# **Glossary of terms**

Chill factor	This occurs where members of one community can feel discouraged or prevented from applying for employment in an organisation because it is traditionally associated with the other community.
Correspondence testing	This refers to the sending of multiple matched written applications to real job vacancies with the variable of interest (ethnicity in our case) randomly assigned.
Direct discrimination	This occurs when a person is treated less favourably, on racial grounds, than another person is or would be treated in the same or similar circumstances.
Ethnic penalties	These are the disadvantages that ethnic minorities experience in the labour market compared with members of the majority group who have the same education, training and experience. See also 'net differential'.
Gross differential	This refers to the differential or disadvantage (e.g. with respect to unemployment) experienced by one group, in comparison with another, <b>without</b> taking into account differences between the two groups in relevant individual characteristics such as education, training or experience.
Harassment	This refers to the behaviour where a person engages in unwanted conduct that has the purpose or effect of violating the other person's dignity; or creating an intimidating, hostile, degrading, humiliating or offensive environment for that person.
Indirect discrimination	This occurs where apparently neutral requirements, conditions or practices by an employer nonetheless have an adverse impact disproportionately on one group when compared with others, and cannot be justified as 'a proportionate means of achieving a legitimate aim'.
Net differential	This refers to the differential or disadvantage experienced by one group in comparison with another <b>after</b> taking into account relevant individual characteristics such as education, training or experience. The expression 'ethnic penalty' is used to describe this concept in the context of ethnic disadvantage.
Net discrimination	In the analysis of results from correspondence testing, this is the number of instances of discrimination against a particular ethnic group that <b>exceeds</b> the number of instances of discrimination in its favour.

Statistical discrimination	This is the process by which discriminatory outcomes occur as a result of employers making decisions on the basis of perceptions that race or ethnicity are correlated with, and are proxies for, job-relevant but unmeasured individual characteristics such as motivation or communication skills.
Visible minorities	Members of visible minorities are defined by the Canadian Employment Equity Act as 'persons, other than aboriginal people, who are non-Caucasian in race or non-white in colour'.

# Summary

#### Background

There is an accumulation of evidence that ethnic minorities experience substantial disadvantage in the labour market, some of which is due to racial discrimination by employers. Following the National Employment Panel's (NEPs) recommendations, in its report on race equality in the workplace, the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) commissioned research in order to test for the presence of racial discrimination by employers when recruiting staff. This research involved 'correspondence testing' in which matched applications were sent to employers for actual job vacancies. The study showed significant levels of net discrimination against ethnic minorities, and showed that discrimination affected all the main ethnic groups alike. The study also showed significantly higher levels of discrimination in the private sector than in the public sector.

The NEP recommended that the government should gather and publish baseline information on discrimination and race equality in the labour market and should monitor progress by employers against the baseline. As part of this they suggested that government should develop a Race Equality Index in order to understand in detail how discrimination is happening, how pro-active businesses are to promoting race equality in recruitment, retention and promotion, and to monitor trends over time. This would help to inform government as to whether new measures to promote race equality were required. The present report investigates the feasibility of constructing such an index.

In developing the index, we have focused on the experience of the main ethnic minorities in Britain today, that is the specific groups included in the broader census categories of black or black British, Asian or Asian British, Chinese, other and mixed. We have, for practical reasons of data availability, not attempted to disaggregate the different ethnic minorities.

Since the focus of the index is on private-sector business, we have taken into account the extent to which individuals from minority groups differ from the majority group in their job-relevant characteristics such as their educational qualifications. In other words, we focus on barriers to ethnic minority employment that employers might reasonably be expected to tackle as opposed to barriers that might be better tackled in the educational system or elsewhere.

#### What are the information needs of a race equality index?

After reviewing the legal framework and social scientific evidence we suggest that an index should ideally incorporate measures of direct discrimination, indirect discrimination, harassment and what has in the Northern Ireland context been termed the 'chill factor'. The index also needs to cover other employer-side barriers such as the use of informal word-of-mouth methods of recruitment that favour people known to existing employees, as well as the various lawful forms of positive action that might be undertaken by a pro-active employer in order to alleviate ethnic minority under-representation. The index should also include outcome measures of fair employment in the private sector. Possible outcome measures include ethnic minority under-representation in private sector firms, under-representation in managerial positions within firms, and ethnic differentials in pay.

It is not in fact possible to obtain general measures of indirect discrimination, since the presence of indirect discrimination can only be determined on a case by case basis. However, the Commission for Racial Equality's (CRE) statutory code of practice (which remains in force) includes guidance

on employers' responsibilities which is intended to give employment tribunals and courts clear guidelines on good equal opportunities practice in employment (CRE, 2003). The code in essence gives examples of what practices might be expected to minimise the risk of indirect discrimination and also covers other lawful practices that might be undertaken by a pro-active employer committed to promoting race equality. The statutory code, therefore, gives a sound legal basis for identifying possible components of an index measuring how pro-active employers are in eliminating ethnic minority under-representation in private-sector firms. The extent to which private-sector firms adhere to the statutory code is potentially, therefore, an important element of an index.

#### What tools can be employed?

We reviewed alternative trusted data sources for measuring direct discrimination, adherence to the different components of the statutory code, harassment, and outcomes. The most appropriate available source for tapping direct discrimination proved to be the Department for Communities and Local Government's (CLG) Citizenship Survey (CS), which contains questions that enable one to measure inequalities in job refusals and unfair treatment in promotion.

For adherence to the statutory code of practice, the Department for Business, Innovation and Skills' (BIS) Workplace Employment Relations Survey (WERS) contains several appropriate questions, while its Fair Treatment at Work Survey (FTWS) provides good evidence on the experience of racial harassment at work. An alternative is the National Centre for Social Research's (NatCen) British Social Attitudes (BSA) survey, which contains a regular question on self-reported prejudice.

For outcome measures of ethnic minority under-representation in private sector firms, underrepresentation in managerial positions within firms, and differentials in pay, the most appropriate source is the large-scale and trusted Labour Force Survey (LFS).

#### Practical issues of measurement and recent trends

Using the CS it is possible to construct a regular, annual measure of the differential between the rates of job refusals/unfair treatment in promotion experienced by ethnic minorities compared with the rates for the labour force as a whole. In order to compare like with like, we adjust the rates so that the estimated 'net' differential takes account of differences between the education and other characteristics of ethnic minorities and those of the overall workforce. This is analogous to the way in which, in the correspondence tests of discrimination, applications were matched for education, skills and experience. We have been able to calculate trends covering the 2003-09 period showing, in the same way that the correspondence tests did, that ethnic minorities experience significantly higher rates of refusals when applying for jobs. Minorities also report significantly higher levels of unfair treatment with respect to promotion. There appears to have been little improvement in these respects since 2001 (see Section 4.1).

Unfortunately, the detailed wording of the questions means that we cannot be certain that the job refusals or unfair treatment were restricted to the private sector. This measure, although useful as an overall indicator of trends in discrimination, is not, therefore, a suitable component of a specifically private-sector index.

Using the WERS it is possible to construct a simple additive index, similar to that developed by the NEP, which measures the extent to which private-sector workplaces adhere to some important elements of the statutory code of practice. This index can only be constructed intermittently, as the survey is not an annual one, but it is nonetheless a valuable measure of the extent to which the private sector is pro-active in reducing ethnic inequality. Analysis of the 1998 and 2004 surveys

shows that there was some modest improvement over this period. However, the 2004 survey also showed very substantial differences in the extent to which the public and private sectors adhered to the statutory code: while rates of adherence were lowest in small and medium enterprises, large private-sector firms lagged a considerable way behind public-sector bodies in their use of ethnic monitoring, assessment of indirect discrimination, and the use of positive measures to encourage applications from ethnic minority applicants (see Section 4.2).

We do not feel that it is possible to construct an acceptable annual measure of harassment or the chill factor from existing sources, although the highly respected BSA survey shows a worrying increase in racial prejudice on the part of white private-sector employees in recent years (see Section 4.3).

Annual outcome measures of ethnic minority under-representation in private sector firms, under-representation in managerial positions within firms, and ethnic differentials in pay can be calculated using the LFS. These measures can be adjusted so that they take account of the extent to which ethnic minorities differ in their educational qualifications (and other socio-demographic characteristics) from the workforce as a whole. For the period 2001-09, we find that ethnic minorities have been significantly under-represented in private-sector employment, but that there has been some real improvement over time (see Section 4.4). Among those who are actually employed in the private sector, we find that ethnic minorities are significantly under-represented in managerial occupations, and there is no evidence of any improvement. We also find that ethnic minorities continue to have significantly lower hourly earnings than the overall average for the private sector, and as with access to management there has been no improvement over time (see Section 4.4).

# Can the private sector's contribution to reducing the ethnic minority employment gap be measured?

It is not at present practicable to construct an annual measure that captures all the separate components of direct discrimination, indirect discrimination, harassment and other barriers that contribute to ethnic minority under-representation in private-sector firms. However, the 2011 WERS will be a valuable resource for looking at trends since 2004 in how pro-active the private sector is in tackling ethnic minority under-representation.

In contrast, an index based on the LFS and covering the three outcome measures of ethnic minority under-representation in the private sector, under-representation in managerial occupations, and pay disparities can be constructed. Our proposal assigns equal weight to these three components. Our proposed index involves adjusting for individual characteristics and geographical region, just as correspondence tests of discrimination involve the matching of ethnic minority and majority group applicants.

We have constructed an index on these lines for the 2001-09 period. This shows that there continues to be substantial ethnic inequality in the private sector with no evidence of an overall trend towards greater equality (see Section 5.2).

#### Conclusions

An outcome index of ethnic minority under-representation and disadvantage in the private sector can be constructed. Because it relies on sample surveys, the index has to be used with caution when measuring year-to-year variation but it does enable one to chart progress over the medium term. While the precise adjustment procedures that we have used are inevitably debateable, our checks have suggested that alternative procedures will not materially alter either the trends over time or the comparison of the private sector with the public sector. It, therefore, appears to be suitably robust for the purposes for which it is intended. Furthermore, the proposed index does capture three outcomes that would widely be recognised as important and it fulfils the requirements of the National Employment Panel for monitoring progress over time in order to determine whether there is a need for additional measures, such as the strengthened use of public procurement to incentivise private sector firms to move more rapidly towards fair employment.

We, therefore, recommend that such an index should be constructed and, after consultation with stakeholders and further statistical refinement, should be published annually.

# 1 Background

#### 1.1 Aims and objectives

This study was commissioned by the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP), who wished to investigate the feasibility of constructing a Race Equality Index. The purpose of such an index would be to measure the level of active racial discrimination in the labour market, to understand in detail how discrimination is happening, and the level of commitment of businesses to dealing with it. The focus would be on private sector businesses. The Race Equality Index would then be used to monitor progress over a period of time.

Specific questions that we were asked by the DWP to consider were:

- What are the information needs for an effective index to measure policy on discrimination?
- Which tools could be employed in order to collect the information required for a future index?
- How, whether and how frequently should information be gathered? This will influence what type of index is established.
- Can the private sector's contribution to reducing the ethnic minority employment gap be measured?

One important constraint, however, is that any proposed index is required to make use of existing data sources and cannot require new surveys to be conducted.

The Race Equality Index also needs to have the following characteristics:

- transparency it needs to be easily understood;
- to be repeatable;
- comprehensive;
- reasonable in cost;
- a trusted data source;
- simple in presentation.

In this report we first provide the background and then turn to the four central questions about information needs, tools, practical considerations and measurement.

#### 1.2 Previous work

The stimulus for this work came from the National Employment Panel (NEP) report 60/76 The Business Commission on Race Equality in the Workplace (2008). The report's starting point was the employment gap between ethnic minorities and the white majority (60 per cent being the ethnic minority employment rate and 76 per cent the white employment rate at the time the report was drafted). The report argued that it is 'important to create a climate of accountability for that part of the gap that results from employer discrimination' (paragraph 62).

As recommended by the NEP, the DWP commissioned the National Centre for Social Research (NatCen) to carry out field research in which matched written applications from white and ethnic minority applicants (ethnicity being indicated by the names of the applicants) were submitted to employers for formally advertised vacancies. (The applications were matched for education, skills and work history.) This 'correspondence testing' exercise showed statistically-significant and substantively large levels of net discrimination (as measured by call-back for an interview) against ethnic minorities. It also showed significantly higher levels of net discrimination in the private sector than in the public sector (Wood *et al.*, 2009). Previous statistical research for the Department by Heath and Cheung had also shown that ethnic minorities were under-represented in managerial posts in the private sector, compared to the public sector, and that ethnic minority men experienced significantly lower earnings in the private sector than did white men (Heath and Cheung, 2006).

The NEP's Business Commission also constructed an index from survey items developed in a standalone survey of employers in six cities. (See Appendix A for the list of questions included in the index.) The intention of their index was to 'draw general conclusions on how pro-active businesses are to promoting race equality in recruitment, retention and promotion' (NEP, 2007, p 66).

Our understanding is that the NEP's index is a useful example of what might be done, but since the current intention is to use existing data sources rather than to commission new surveys, the measures utilised in the NEP's index will not be appropriate unless they are carried in some other ongoing survey. We have, therefore, decided to go back to first principles rather than simply trying to replicate the NEP's measures.

#### 1.3 General considerations

The first point to establish is which groups we are considering. Following past government practice based on the Cabinet Office Report (2003), we focus on people who in countries such as Canada are termed 'visible' minorities. In other words we focus on barriers to the employment of people who are included in the census categories mixed, black or black British, Asian or Asian British, Chinese and other ethnic group. We do not include the various white ethnic groups in this general category of 'visible minority'. The rationale for this, as in the Cabinet Office Report, is that white minorities (with the exception of travellers and Roma) do not seem to suffer to the same extent from discrimination and barriers to employment as do the 'visible' minorities. (See, for example, Cheung and Heath, 2007; Li and Heath, 2008, 2010; Heath and Li, 2008.)

A second issue is whether the proposed index should attempt to distinguish between the different ethnic minorities. While there is clear evidence that some groups are more successful in the labour market than others, we have decided not to distinguish between the specific minorities. One reason is that the recent correspondence testing described above was unable to detect statistically significant differences in the extent of discrimination experienced by the main groups considered (Wood *et al.*, 2009). The study concluded 'on this evidence, it does not appear that differences in labour outcomes between minority ethnic groups are the result of differences in the level of discrimination in the application phase of the recruitment process' (Wood *et al.*, 2009, p.4). A second reason is that the data sources available do not have sufficiently large samples to enable us to measure confidently ethnic differences in barriers to employment.

Third, we understand that the focus needs to be on the employer side rather than on barriers arising, for example, from applicants' lack of education or fluency in the English language. The key point is that the index is not intended to be an overall measure of ethnic disadvantage but is intended to focus on the employer side. In this respect, it is useful to distinguish between the 'gross' and the 'net' disadvantages experienced by ethnic minorities. The gross disadvantage can be thought of as the overall gap in, for example, employment rates before matching for education, skills or experience in the labour market. The net disadvantage is the gap that remains after matching for education and so on, and represents the extent of disadvantage experienced by ethnic minorities

in comparison with white British people who have the same qualifications, training and experience. These net disadvantages are often termed 'ethnic penalties'. In essence, then, the aim is to assess progress towards reducing the ethnic penalties that minorities experience when competing for jobs in the private sector.

Fourth, in considering which measures to use we have restricted our search to authoritative government or independent sources such as the Citizenship Survey (CS), Workplace Employment Relations Survey (WERS), the Fair Treatment at Work Survey (FTWS), the British Social Attitudes (BSA) survey and the Labour Force Survey (LFS). These are all large-scale, trusted nationally-representative sample surveys. Since the CS covers England and Wales only, in this report we restrict our coverage and data analysis to England and Wales, although other sources such as the LFS cover Britain as a whole and it would be possible in principle to construct an index for Great Britain. We exclude consideration of Northern Ireland because of the special circumstances there involving inequalities between the two main Northern Irish communities.

We now turn to our four central questions.

# 2 What are the information needs of a race equality index?

#### 2.1 Possible components of an index

After reviewing the legal framework and social scientific evidence we suggest that an index should ideally have five main components covering:

- Direct discrimination.
- Indirect discrimination.
- Harassment and what is sometimes termed the 'chill factor'.
- Other employer-based barriers or lawful action that employers can undertake to address ethnic minority under-representation.
- Outcome measures of fair employment.

Each of these main components could in principle have further sub-components.

The rationale for our approach is that the ethnic penalties experienced by minorities when competing for jobs in the private sector are likely to be the product not only of direct discrimination but of various additional practices and procedures followed by employers. Some of these such as indirect discrimination, racial harassment, or the condoning of such harassment are unlawful in the same way that direct discrimination is unlawful. Other barriers might not be unlawful but might nonetheless be open to action by an employer committed to eliminating ethnic minority under-representation within the workplace. We consider each in turn.

#### 2.2 Direct racial discrimination

Direct racial discrimination occurs when a person is treated less favourably, on racial grounds, than another person is or would be treated in the same or similar circumstances. This is the kind of concept of discrimination that was measured in the correspondence testing of discrimination described above (Wood *et al.*, 2009).

Note that this definition of direct discrimination does not include any reference to the motive for the unequal treatment. Economists often make a distinction between 'a taste for discrimination' where the selector has a preference (i.e. prejudice) for members of one ethnic group over another (Becker, 1957), and 'statistical discrimination' where the employer believes that members of the unfavoured group have on average lesser potential productive capacity than the favoured group and that this difference in productive potential would not be captured by observable characteristics in the applicant's CV but are proxied by ethnicity (Arrow, 1972, 1998). From a legal perspective, we understand that motive is neither a necessary nor a sufficient condition for establishing direct discrimination: An employer cannot argue that it was not the intention to discriminate.

Direct discrimination can occur with respect to recruitment, performance appraisal, promotion, pay, access to training or discipline and dismissal.

#### 2.3 Indirect discrimination

Legally, indirect discrimination occurs where apparently neutral requirements, conditions or practices by an employer nonetheless have an adverse impact disproportionately on one group when compared with others, and cannot be justified as 'a proportionate means of achieving a legitimate aim'. For example, failure by an employer to offer part-time employment might be regarded as indirect discrimination against women, unless it could be shown by the employer that it was a 'genuine occupational requirement' to have full-time workers.

From a social scientific measurement point of view, the difficulty with this concept is that whether or not a particular practice constitutes indirect discrimination can only be decided in relation to a particular job. We cannot, for example, state that failure to offer part-time work, or any other practice at work, invariably constitutes indirect discrimination. Hence there can be no list of procedures and practices that we could draw up as **general** examples of indirect discrimination (or as evidence of its absence). Each practice has to be considered in relation to a particular job and the requirements for performing the job.

However, the Commission for Racial Equality (CRE) statutory code of practice (which remains in force) includes guidance on employers' responsibilities which is intended to give employment tribunals and courts clear guidelines on good equal opportunities practice in employment (CRE, 2003). The code in essence gives examples of what practices might be expected to minimise the risk of indirect discrimination. The code also covers other practices that might be undertaken by a proactive employer committed to promoting race equality. The statutory code, therefore, gives a sound legal basis for identifying and measuring possible components of a race equality index.

The first element mentioned in the statutory code is to draw up an equal opportunities policy. However, the code emphasises that employment tribunals have made it clear that statements of intent or paper policies and procedures alone are unlikely to provide employers with a defence in legal proceedings (para 3.15). This is also consistent with academic research suggesting that some equal opportunities policy documents are merely 'empty shells' (Hoque and Noon, 2004), although Fevre *et al.* (2009) found in the Fair Treatment at Work Survey that respondents in workplaces that had a written equal opportunity policy were only half as likely to report unfair treatment and discrimination as those without such a policy.

The statutory code emphasises that employers need to be able to show that they put their equal opportunities policy into operation. The code of practice states that the most effective way of approaching this is to draw up an equal opportunities action plan (para 3.16), whose aim should be to:

- **a** Promote the equal opportunities policy, e.g. by publicising it throughout the organisation, with a senior manager taking responsibility for the policy.
- **b** Make sure all workers understand the policy, and provide training for those who have particular responsibilities under it.
- **c** Monitor workers and applicants for employment, promotion and training, by racial group, and review all employment policies, procedures and practices, to see if they are potentially discriminatory or obstruct equality of opportunity, and
- **d** Take steps to remove potentially unlawful discrimination, and reduce any significant disparities between racial groups. These steps can include advertising, to make sure that the information is reaching any under-represented groups and that people from these groups feel encouraged to apply. It can also include positive action schemes which involve training or encouragement, but not employment.

The statutory code gives further details under each of these headings. In particular, consistent with the findings of the correspondence testing described above, it recommends the use of a standard application form (from which personal details on ethnic background should be detached and not made known to members of the selection panel before interview). It also recommends that employers should avoid recruitment on the basis of recommendations from existing members of staff. This is consistent with some American evidence that the use of personal networks for recruitment is a significant source of ethnic disadvantage in recruitment (Petersen *et al.*, 2000). It also advocates the setting of realistic targets and timetables for reducing any significant racial disparities both within the workforce as a whole and at different levels of the organisation.

In this way the statutory code goes further than dealing with indirect discrimination and covers 'positive action' that might 'reduce any significant disparities between racial groups'. This is helpful for our purposes as it identifies actions that employers can lawfully undertake in order to promote equality. We should note that the Equality Act 2010 (Sections 158, 159) takes this further and makes it easier for employers to undertake positive action.

In principle, it would be desirable for an index to include measures of these four sub-headings identified by the CRE, weighting them according to their importance in reducing ethnic inequalities. Unfortunately, however, there is at present only a weak evidence base for establishing which of these practices are most effective in reducing ethnic inequalities in the labour market. For example, there is American evidence suggesting that equal opportunities training has no general benefits on the employment of minorities or women (Kalev *et al.*, 2006). The British evidence base on the effectiveness of these different sub-components is largely lacking however.

We cannot, therefore, be sure, in the absence of further research, which are the key practices to include in any index. Our best guess is that a written equal opportunities policy, ethnic monitoring, developing an action plan to correct any under-representation, using standard application forms, avoiding informal personal ties in recruitment, and using advertising and positive action measures to overcome under-representation should be the key components. This is consistent with the experience of the successful Northern Ireland programme for promoting fair participation in employment (see for example McCrudden *et al.*, 2010), and with the other research evidence, but we could not claim that there is as strong an evidence base as we would wish.

#### 2.4 Harassment and the 'chill factor'

The statutory code states that it is unlawful for employers to engage in, or condone, unwanted conduct that will violate the dignity of workers or job applicants (para 4.72). It defines harassment on grounds of race or ethnic or national origins as behaviour where a person engages in unwanted conduct that has the purpose or effect of:

- a violating the other person's dignity; or
- **b** creating an intimidating, hostile, degrading, humiliating or offensive environment for that person (para 2.17).

This concept of harassment is similar to the expression 'chill factor' which is often used in the Northern Ireland context to refer to workplace environments that deter potential applicants from members of a different community because, for example, of the display of insignia associated with one particular community and a generally hostile environment towards members of the other community. Our assumption, then, is that harassment on racial grounds at a particular workplace might either deter minority applicants from applying, or might lead to higher rates of exit from the workplace than would otherwise have occurred. (Fevre *et al.*, 2009 show very high rates of exits on the part of those who had reported experiencing unfair treatment.) In these ways it might contribute to the employment gap in private sector firms (or indeed in public sector concerns such as perhaps the police). The recent Race for Opportunity report, 'Aspiration and Frustration', documents considerable disparities between ethnic minority and majority respondents in their perceptions of how welcoming professions, including the police and armed forces, are to potential applicants.

#### 2.5 Other employer-side action

As the statutory code makes clear, especially in point (d) above, there are a range of practices that a pro-active employer can legally undertake in order to redress under-representation of ethnic minorities. These include various forms of positive action in order to encourage ethnic minorities to apply to the firm, or to provide them with the training that they need in order to be suitable candidates. The essential point, then, is that simply eliminating unlawful practices such as direct and indirect discrimination might not be sufficient to eliminate under-representation but that firms can lawfully undertake additional measures to help close the gap.

#### 2.6 'Outcome' measures

If employers have successfully eliminated direct and indirect discrimination, have successfully followed the code of practice, have eliminated any 'chill factor', and have undertaken proportionate positive action to encourage applications from under-represented groups, then we would expect to find that the overall level of representation of ethnic minorities in the firm would more closely mirror that of the ethnic composition of the suitably-qualified pool of potential applicants in the catchment area, (recognising that different geographical catchment areas might be appropriate for different levels of qualification). This is essentially the approach taken by the Equality Commission for Northern Ireland (ECNI) when determining whether a particular community is under-represented in a Northern Ireland firm or public body.

Given the uncertainties involved in the measurement of the various components that generate ethnic penalties, we would regard it as important to include in the index robust outcome measures of this kind in addition to the practices and procedures described in the statutory code of practice. Three separate outcomes could be included:

- **a** The ethnic or racial composition of the private-sector workforce, compared to that of the potential pool of employees in the relevant geographical area, that is, a measure of the extent to which ethnic minorities are under-represented in the private sector.
- **b** Occupational inequalities, particularly under-representation in managerial positions, among those who actually are employed in private-sector firms.
- c Pay inequalities at all levels within private-sector firms.

Ideally then a race equality index of the kind required should include measures of:

- direct discrimination experienced by ethnic minorities;
- the practices identified by the CRE in the statutory code such as having an action plan, conducting ethnic monitoring, targeting advertising at under-represented groups, and positive action;

- harassment/the chill factor; and
- outcome measures of under-representation of ethnic minorities in private-sector employment, and of ethnic inequalities in earnings and in access to managerial positions in private-sector firms.

We should mention two important caveats at this point. First, we do not at present have robust evidence showing us the relative importance of direct discrimination, indirect discrimination, the chill factor and other barriers in accounting for the ethnic penalties experienced by minorities in competing for jobs in the private sector. In research undertaken for the NEP, Heath and Li (2007) estimated that up to one-quarter of the penalty might be due to direct discrimination, but there is considerable uncertainty around this estimate. Secondly, there is always the possibility that part of the observed ethnic penalties might be due to unmeasured characteristics of the minority applicants (for example, lack of English language skills in the case of migrants) rather than to employer-based barriers.

In order to tap these different conceptual components, we reviewed possible sources of measures for each component and sub-component. We consider each in turn in the next chapter.

# 3 Possible tools for measuring the different components

#### 3.1 Tools for measuring direct discrimination

For measuring direct discrimination we considered alternatives such as further exercises involving correspondence testing of discrimination, measures of employment tribunal cases involving racial discrimination, and self-report measures of job refusals and unfair treatment, based on the Citizenship Survey (CS) and Fair Treatment at Work Survey (FTWS).

While correspondence testing provides hard evidence and in that respect is much to be preferred to other measures, it is expensive and there are no current plans for regular exercises of this kind. Furthermore, there are issues of generalisability and representativeness (since correspondence testing can only be used for jobs that are formally advertised, and only addresses one part of the selection process).

Employment tribunal records are administrative data and entail the difficulties of administrative data. In particular, it is possible that the willingness to bring cases against employers will vary over time, depending on the economic and cultural climate, e.g. the stigma attached to making such claims or the extent of victimisation experienced by complainants. A greater willingness to bring cases might not necessarily indicate an increase in the incidence of unfair treatment.

Self-report measures of racial discrimination are also somewhat problematic, since respondents will often not know the grounds on which they failed to get a job or promotion, and there is, therefore, a risk that respondents may mis-attribute a rejection to race when it was in fact perhaps due to lack of qualifications or other weaknesses in their applications.

The most reliable measure might, therefore, be a survey-based one, analogous to correspondence testing, which compares the rates at which equally-qualified members of the majority and minority groups are rejected for jobs or promotions. In other words we should focus on the outcome – the rate of rejection – not the supposed reason for the rejection. Self-report measures of this kind have proved acceptable in the contexts of measuring crime rates and unemployment rates.

A measure of this kind is available from the CS. The CS is a large-scale government survey, highly trusted, with the great advantage of oversampling ethnic minorities (and, therefore, providing more robust estimates). We should note that, while the survey allows us to look at job refusals with respect to recruitment and unfair treatment with respect to promotion, it does not contain questions on other areas such as appraisal, training, discipline or dismissal. The CS asked the following questions:

- May I check, in the last five years, have you been refused or turned down for a job? (asked of those currently in work together with those who had had a job or looked for one in the last five years);
- In the last five years, have you been treated unfairly at work with regard to promotion or a move to a better position? (asked of those currently in work together with those who had had a job in the last five years).

These measures have been used by the CLG for monitoring trends (CLG, 2009). However, there is one major weakness of the survey for our purposes: the wording of the questions in the survey makes it impossible to be sure that the job refusals were from private-sector firms. The survey question asks

about job refusals in the last five years, and even though we can establish from the survey whether the respondent is currently employed in a private sector firm, there is no way of determining whether the prior job refusals were from private or public sector concerns.

#### 3.2 Tools for measuring adherence to the statutory code

As we showed in Section 2.3, we cannot straightforwardly measure indirect discrimination. However, the CRE's statutory code of practice gives us a sound legal basis for identifying practices that would reduce the risk of indirect discrimination and which would also help to eliminate race inequality. The National Employment Panel's (NEP) stand-alone survey covered some of the practices identified in the statutory code, but there are no current plans to repeat this survey. The main alternative source which contains information on employer practices is the Business, Innovation and Skills (BIS) Workplace Employment Relations Survey (WERS), a representative survey of over 2,000 workplaces with more than five employees. The WERS was conducted in 1990, 1998 and most recently in 2004, and a new survey is planned for 2011.

The 2004 survey asked questions about a number of the practices included in the statutory code of practice, although not all of them. The key questions that we have been able to identify in the 2004 survey are:

- Whether the workplace (or the organisation of which it is a part) has a formal written policy on equal opportunities or managing diversity which explicitly mentions equality of treatment or discrimination on grounds of race.
- How the policy has been made known to employees.
- Whether attempts have been made to measure the effects of the Equal Opportunities (EO) policies on the workplace or on the employees at the establishment, and what were the effects (though this is not explicitly mentioned in the code of practice).
- Whether recruitment and selection are monitored by ethnic background.
- Whether promotions are monitored by ethnic background.
- Whether recruitment and selection procedures are reviewed by ethnic background to identify indirect discrimination.
- Whether promotion procedures are reviewed by ethnic background to identify indirect discrimination.
- Whether relative pay rates are reviewed by ethnic background (not explicitly mentioned in the code of practice).
- Whether, when filling vacancies, there are any special procedures to encourage applications from members of minority ethnic groups.
- Whether direct recommendations from existing employees or word of mouth methods are used when recruiting staff.

Some of these questions were asked in 1998, and there are plans to retain almost all for the 2011 survey. This list of questions covers many of the key practices identified in the statutory code although it does not ask about the presence of an action plan and the setting of targets and timetables for reducing race inequality, or whether standard application forms are used. However, the items that are included would provide the basis for a useful index.

#### 3.3 Tools for measuring the 'chill factor'

The most relevant source is Business, Innovation and Skills (BIS) 2008 FTWS, a representative survey of current employees in Great Britain (excluding the self-employed) together with those who had been employees over the previous two years (Fevre *et al.*, 2009). The survey updates findings from the 2005 FTWS, but changes in the methodology make it difficult to make comparisons over time.

The 2008, FTWS included questions on experience of unfair treatment, discrimination at work, and bullying and harassment. It found that most harassment seemed to be individualised and there were only small (and statistically non-significant) ethnic differences in experience of bullying (Fevre *et al.*, 2009, Table B8.1). The FTWS does, however, permit one to identify bullying and harassment that has occurred at the current workplace and, therefore, to examine experiences in the private sector.

A second potential source is the annual British Social Attitudes (BSA) survey. Again this is a nationally-representative high quality probability sample, and it routinely includes a self-report question on racial prejudice. Respondents are asked:

How would you describe yourself...as very prejudiced against people of other races, a little prejudiced or not prejudiced at all?

In principle, one could measure trends over time in the proportion of private-sector employees who admit to racial prejudice. (See, for example, Heath and Cheung, 2006: CLG, 2009.) It might be expected that these levels of racial prejudice would be related to levels of racial harassment in the workplace. However, the evidence base for this assumption is missing, and indeed there is some evidence that prejudiced attitudes do not always correspond with actual behaviour. This, therefore, becomes a somewhat uncertain measure of the chill factor.

#### 3.4 Tools for measuring outcomes

Given the limitations and uncertainties over the various possible tools for measuring the separate components described above, the overall measures acquire greater importance.

As noted above, if firms have eliminated unlawful practices and pro-actively undertaken lawful ones to promote race equality, then we might expect the profile of their workforce to come to reflect more closely that of the available workforce in their area (taking account of the skills needed). As noted above, this is essentially the approach that the ECNI adopts when assessing fair participation within a particular firm or public body, although we should note that the ECNI does not formally quantify this but instead has detailed discussions with each concern in the light of local knowledge.

Ideally, we would measure the workforce composition of a sample of firms and compare this profile with that of suitably-qualified personnel in the relevant travel-to-work area. To the best of our knowledge, however, suitable data are not currently available on a regular basis on the composition of individual firms. Instead, therefore, we turn to aggregate measures which compare the composition of private-sector firms as a whole in a given area with the profile of potential employees in that area.

We considered the Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings (ASHE) but this does not contain a measure of ethnicity. As recommended in the ASHE reports, we, therefore, turned to the Labour Force Survey (LFS). The LFS is a large-scale, high quality and trusted data source. It is used for example for measuring International Labour Office (ILO) unemployment rates and the ethnic minority employment gap. It does not, however, oversample ethnic minorities, and, therefore, while it is adequate for measuring overall trends is not ideal for measuring year-to-year variations. It does, however, contain the information on ethnicity, private sector, and region that we need in order to measure the extent to which ethnic minorities are under-represented in private-sector employment and at different occupational levels. The overall measures can, therefore, be focused specifically on the private sector and computed over time.

# 4 Practical issues of measurement and recent trends

#### 4.1 Job refusals and unfair treatment in promotion

As noted previously the Citizenship Survey's (CS) self-report measures of job refusals and unfair treatment with respect to promotion are the best available ones. These questions have been asked since 2003. Until 2007 the Survey was a biennial one, but it has since moved to a continuous basis and it is anticipated that it will be available in the future for regular monitoring of trends over time.

From the CS we can calculate estimates of the extent of ethnic minority disadvantage with respect to recruitment and promotion. Following the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) practice, for example, in calculating the ethnic minority employment gap, we have computed the differential between the ethnic minority rate of job refusals, or unfair treatment in promotion, and that for the population as a whole. We should note, however, that, if the ethnic minority share of the population increases (as it is tending to), then compositional changes will automatically lead to some gradual convergence of the ethnic minority rate with the population rate. From a purely statistical point of view, therefore, it would be preferable to compute the minority/majority differential.

Table 4.1 shows the recent trends using the CS data.

	Percentages rep	orting job refusals	s or unfair treatme	ent in promotion
	2003	2005	2007/08	2008/09
Recruitment				
White respondents	21.5	17.2	17.5	8.1
Ethnic minority respondents	33.1	31.3	31.1	15.3
All respondents	22.4	18.2	18.6	8.8
Differential % (Ethnic Minorities (EM)–All)	47.8	72.0	67.2	73.9
Promotion				
White respondents	12.3	8.9	8.5	6.3
Ethnic minority respondents	17.7	19.3	15.5	13.9
All	12.7	9.7	9.1	7.0
Differential % (EM-All)	39.4	99.0	70.3	98.6
Base, All	10,805	10,802	10,727	11,411
Base, EM	4,645	4,529	4,894	5,651

### Table 4.1Trends in self-reported job refusals in recruitment and unfair<br/>treatment in promotion 2003-2008/09

Source: The CS 2003-2008/09.

Notes:

1. Men aged 16-64 and women aged 16-59 in England and Wales (same below).

- 2. The figures in the table refer to percentages answering 'Yes' to the questions on job refusals and unfair treatment in promotion over the last five years. The Ns refer to the numbers of respondents who are employees or who have been (or have looked for a job in the case of job refusals) employees in the last five years. The sample includes both public and private sector employees.
- 3. Differential percentages (EM All) is calculated as ((EM All)/All)\*100 and serves as an indication of ethnic minority disadvantage over the general population in recruitment or promotion.
- 4. In 2007, the Citizenship Survey moved from being a biennial survey to a continuous survey.
- 5. Weighted analysis reported (individual combined weight: same below).

In the first three rows of Table 4.1 we show the rates of job refusals reported by white, ethnic minority and all respondents respectively. As we can see, in all four years, ethnic minorities reported substantially higher rates of job refusal than did the overall population who were asked this question. In the next row, we calculate the differential, setting the figure for the population as a whole to 100. In 2003 the ethnic minority rate of job refusals was 47.8 per cent higher than that for the population. The differential then widened in 2005 and has remained at this high level subsequently.

The differential reported in Table 4.1 is in essence a 'gross' differential. It does not, therefore, strictly compare like with like, since ethnic minorities will tend to be younger, less well-qualified, have less work experience and so on than the majority group. The gross differential is not, therefore, analogous to the results for the matched applications in the correspondence testing of discrimination described above. The natural solution is to use multivariate methods to in effect match for relevant individual characteristics in the same way that the correspondence testing did. This is done in Table 4.2, which shows the adjusted or 'net' figures, after controlling for age, education, gender and other relevant factors in a multivariate model. (For details of the adjustment procedure, see Appendix B.)

		Percentag	ge differentials
2003	2005	2007/08	2008/09
12.8	28.5	25.2	24.6
26.2	65.0	43.9	56.2
	<b>2003</b> 12.8 26.2	2003 2005   12.8 28.5   26.2 65.0	2003   2005   2007/08     12.8   28.5   25.2     26.2   65.0   43.9

### Table 4.2Adjusted trends in self-reported job refusals in recruitment and<br/>unfair treatment in promotion 2003-2008/09

Source: The CS 2003-2008/09.

Notes:

1. The adjusted figures are based on the predicted probabilities of job refusals or unfair treatment in promotion respectively derived from logistic regressions, controlling for all other socio-demographic variables – age, age squared, gender, region, highest educational qualification, marital status, number of dependent children, generation (1st versus 2nd or higher) and limiting long-term illness, and with the values of the covariates set at their means.

As we can see, the adjusted differentials are considerably smaller than the unadjusted ones, although they continue to show substantial ethnic minority disadvantage and the trends over time remain almost identical to the unadjusted ones.

As noted above, unfortunately the CS does not enable one to restrict the measure of job refusals to the private sector, since the question does not ask whether the job refusal was from a public or private sector employer. Given the evidence from the correspondence testing of discrimination, the inclusion of the public sector in the measure may well lead to an underestimate of discrimination in the private sector. However, this would still be a problem for measuring trends over time, since trends could in theory be moving in different directions in the public and private sectors.

On balance, since the focus of the index is on the private sector, our inability to restrict the CS measure to job refusals by private sector employers does make it a questionable component of a private sector index. To be sure, it could have a useful role as a regular measure of direct discrimination in the labour market, and the trends should certainly be monitored, but we recommend that it not be included in the proposed private-sector index.

#### 4.2 Adherence to the statutory code of practice

As noted above, the only robust source for measuring adherence to the statutory code is the Workplace Employment Relations Survey (WERS). However, the WERS is not an annual survey. It was conducted in 1990, 1998, 2004 and it is planned to be conducted again in 2011. It is not known when the next survey will be carried out after 2011.

There is also an important issue about the extent to which the WERS items cover all domains relevant to the statutory code of practice; for example, there are no questions on the use of standard application forms or on action plans containing realistic targets and timetables. A further issue is whether all the items that are actually included in WERS are equally important for rectifying ethnic minority under-representation in private sector establishments. There is also a concern that it may not be reasonable to expect smaller firms to follow the code of practice to the same extent that larger firms should; the statutory code itself allows for some degree of latitude in this respect.

In the absence of robust evidence about the relative importance of the different practices, a straightforward approach is to construct a simple additive measure from the current and planned WERS questions similar to that developed by the NEP, scoring workplaces according to the number of equality-promoting practices that they have. The index could, therefore, be the percentage of workplaces that have reached or exceeded a given threshold number of practices. The NEP suggested that firms should count as high-performing if they gave positive answers to five or more of the eight questions included in their list, and this might be a suitable threshold for the WERS' list too. Different thresholds could be allowed for large and small workplaces. This could be a stand-alone measure which would be estimated only when WERS data became available.

Table 4.3 shows the percentage of private-sector workplaces reporting positive answers to the relevant items in the WERS in 1998 and 2004. It shows relatively little progress between 1998 and 2004, although we should note that changes in question wording mean that the decline in the number of workplaces carrying out ethnic monitoring of selection may well be artefactual. However, the relatively small proportion of workplaces (only ten per cent) who use five or more of the listed practices indicates that there is considerable scope for greater action on promoting race equality. While this index cannot be calculated on an annual basis, it will nonetheless be important to calculate it and to monitor progress between 2004 and 2011 when the next WERS is due.

		Percentages
Whether workplace	1998	2004
Has written Equal Opportunities Policy (EOP) mentioning race	65.4	69.2
Makes EOP known formally	70.7	75.1
Measures effects of EOP	13.4	12.4
Monitors selection by ethnic background	39.6	24.7
Reviews selection for indirect discrimination by ethnic background	N/A	19.8
Monitors promotion by ethnic background	N/A	8.3
Reviews promotion for indirect discrimination by ethnic background	N/A	11.1
Reviews relative pay by ethnic background	N/A	5.1
Has special procedures for encouraging minorities	8.5	8.0
Does not use personal recommendations or word of mouth	N/A	31.3
% high scoring workplaces (5+)	N/A	10.3
Base	1,514	1,543

### Table 4.3Trends in the private sector's adherence to the statutory code of<br/>practice 1998-2004

Source: WERS 1998, 2004, private-sector workplaces.

Notes:

- 1. The figures in the table refer to percentage of workplaces answering 'Yes' to the questions about the named practice.
- 2. The base consists of all private-sector workplaces responding to the survey (excluding a small number of missing cases) except for the final item (see note 5). Percentages are comparable across all but the final item.
- 3. Wording changes affect some time trends, e.g. on ethnic monitoring.
- 4. Unweighted analysis reported.
- 5. The base for the final question on use of personal recommendations or word of mouth excludes those firms which reported that they did not fill a vacancy for their largest occupational group over the past 12 months.

It should be noted that, because three of the listed practices in the WERS relate to monitoring, the proposed simple additive measure in effect gives greater weight to monitoring. In contrast our own preliminary analysis suggests that the use of special procedures to encourage applications from ethnic minorities is the practice that correlates most strongly with the proportion of ethnic minorities employed at the workplace. It will be useful to carry out more detailed analysis when the 2011 WERS data become available, and alternative weighting schemes could be explored at that stage.

In addition to measuring the adherence of private-sector workplaces to the statutory code, it is also possible to use the WERS to compare adherence between the private and public sectors. This comparison is shown in Table 4.4 which shows the differences between small and medium enterprises (SMEs) and large enterprises in the private-sector, public-sector and charitable organisations in their use of these practices.

### Table 4.4Public or private sector differences in adherence to the statutory<br/>code of practice

				Percentages
Whether workplace	Private sector SME	Private sector 250+	Charities, mutuals etc	Public sector
Has written EOP mentioning race	44.4	85.9	87.2	94.4
Makes EOP known formally	53.2	89.9	89.9	93.5
Measures effects of EOP	4.7	17.6	34.2	37.5
Monitors selection by ethnic background	8.9	35.4	55.7	72.6
Reviews selection for indirect discrimination by ethnic background	9.0	27.2	50.3	56.0
Monitors promotion by ethnic background	3.3	11.7	29.1	38.8
Reviews promotion for indirect discrimination by ethnic background	4.3	15.7	28.9	34.7
Reviews relative pay by ethnic background	1.6	7.5	20.1	16.2
Has special procedures for encouraging minorities	4.3	10.5	28.2	33.4
Does not use personal recommendations or word of mouth	35.2	29.0	56.7	70.2
% high scoring workplaces (5+)	4.0	14.0	39.4	49.5
Base	503	858	149	589

Source: WERS 2004.

Notes:

1. The private sector includes public limited company, private limited company, company limited by guarantee, partnership (including limited liability partnership).

- 2. The charitable sector includes trust/charity, body established by Royal Charter, co-operative/mutual/ friendly society.
- 3. The public sector includes government-owned limited company/nationalised industry, public service agency, other non-trading public corporation, Quasi Autonomous National Government Organisation (QUANGO), Local/Central Government (including NHS and Local Education Authority).

As we can see, public-sector workplaces report much higher use of these recommended practices than do private-sector workplaces. To be sure, this is not at all surprising given the requirements (general and specific) of the race equality duties on public bodies under the Race Relations (Amendment) Act 2000. Given these requirements, it is indeed somewhat surprising that the public sector figures are not even higher. This should perhaps be investigated further in a separate exercise.

As we shall find later, the public sector also appears to exhibit substantially lesser underrepresentation of ethnic minorities than does the private sector, and of course was also found in the correspondence testing to exhibit significantly less discrimination in recruitment. To be sure, this in no way proves a causal connection between adherence to the practices listed in the statutory code and outcomes, but it does suggest that the presence of a causal connection should not be ruled out.

Within the private sector we also see large differences between SMEs and larger firms in the extent to which they adhere to the statutory code. Larger firms are almost identical to the public sector in their use of written EOPs, but lag behind in the more demanding practices such as ethnic monitoring and the use of positive action.

#### 4.3 Self-reported prejudice

As noted above, the only available source for over-time trends is the British Social Attitudes (BSA) series on self-reported prejudice. In Table 4.5, we show the trends among white employees in private sector firms from 2001 to 2008 (the most recent available).

### Table 4.5Trends in racial prejudice among white private-sector employees,<br/>2001-08

							Pei	rcentages
	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008
Very or a little prejudiced	29.3	38.2	33.4	31.4	34.2	36.8	36.2	41.8
Base	641	330	1,142	318	283	858	551	327

Source: BSA surveys.

Notes:

1. The figures give the percentage of respondents who report that they are either 'very prejudiced' or 'a little prejudiced' against people of other races.

2. The percentages are weighted. The base gives the unweighted sample sizes.

In several years the sample sizes are relatively small, and thus there will be large confidence intervals around the percentages shown. The trends should, therefore, be treated with some caution.

Previous research had shown a trend towards declining prejudice during the 1980s and 1990s, but Table 4.5 suggests that there has been a trend towards increasing prejudice since 2001. The explanation for this is not well-understood but earlier studies that have made use of these data suggest that it may be related to increasing adverse media coverage of immigration (McLaren and Johnson, 2004).

The trends shown in Table 4.5 are certainly a cause for concern, but the small sample sizes involved give us an additional reason for not including this measure in an index of race equality.

#### 4.4 Under-representation in private-sector firms

Outcome measures of under-representation are by no means entirely unproblematic but they are probably the most reliable source of trends over time on racial inequalities within the private sector. There are three potential measures that we have been able to construct using the Labour Force Survey (LFS). First, we have constructed a measure that compares the ethnic minority employment rate in private-sector firms with that of the labour force as a whole. We take as our base people aged 16-64 (men) or 16-59 (women) who are economically active. That is, we exclude full-time students and those not seeking work but include in the base all those who are employed, self-employed or unemployed (International Labour Office (ILO) definition). We then simply compare the overall percentage of the economically active who are employed by private-sector firms with the percentage of economically-active ethnic minorities who are employed in the private sector. This gives us a measure of the extent to which ethnic minorities are under-represented in the private sector.

Table 4.6 shows the trends from 2001 to 2009. In 2001 we see that approximately 74 per cent overall of the economically active were employed in private-sector firms (the other 26 per cent being either employed in the public sector, self-employed or unemployed) compared with 68 per cent of the economically-active members of ethnic minorities. Setting the overall figure to 100, we find that the 'gross' differential was, therefore, around eight per cent in 2001. That is to say, there were eight per cent fewer ethnic minority employees in the private sector than we might have expected.

It could be argued that the self-employed should be excluded from the base, but making this exclusion does not have any material impact on the measure<sup>1</sup>. There is also some evidence that ethnic minority self-employment is sometimes a response to discrimination in the labour market and that it, therefore, should be included in the base (Clark and Drinkwater, 1998).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Further analysis excluding the self-employed from the base shows that the 'All–EM' differentials for the nine years for men and women combined are 9.3, 8.3, 8.7, 5.9, 6.6, 6.4, 6.8, 4.8 and 4.6 per cent respectively, which are slightly higher than the corresponding figures shown in Table 4.6.

								Per	centages
	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009
Men									
White	81.0	80.6	80.6	80.9	80.5	80.3	81.1	79.9	76.3
EM	74.5	75.9	73.8	75.6	74.0	74.1	76.4	75.8	73.5
All	80.5	80.3	80.0	80.4	79.9	79.6	80.6	79.4	75.9
% (All-EM)	7.5	5.5	7.8	6.0	7.4	6.9	5.2	4.5	3.2
Women									
White	66.6	65.8	64.7	64.3	64.6	64.2	64.6	63.8	62.3
EM	59.8	58.3	58.7	60.4	60.8	60.0	58.3	60.1	56.5
All	66.1	65.2	64.3	64.0	64.2	63.8	64.0	63.4	61.7
% (All-EM)	9.5	10.6	8.7	5.6	5.3	6.0	8.9	5.2	8.4
Men and women									
White	74.5	74.0	73.4	73.4	73.4	73.1	73.8	72.7	70.0
EM	68.3	68.4	67.3	69.1	68.5	68.3	68.8	69.2	66.5
All	74.1	73.5	72.9	73.0	72.9	72.6	73.2	72.3	69.6
% (All–EM)	7.8	6.9	7.7	5.3	6.0	5.9	6.0	4.3	4.5
Bases									
Men, All	30,444	29,784	29,014	28,024	28,202	26,913	26,879	26,172	24,803
Men, EM	2,421	2,534	2,551	2,609	2,762	2,804	2,815	2,977	2,750
Women, All	30,044	29,247	28,519	27,566	27,861	26,711	26,333	25,370	23,973
Women, EM	2,621	2,752	2,746	2,804	2,967	3,050	3,055	3,234	2,919

### Table 4.6Trends in ethnic minority under-representation in the private sector,<br/>2001-09

Source: LFS 2001-09.

Notes:

- 1. For men aged 16-64 and women aged 16-59 in England and Wales.
- 2. Weighted analysis and unweighted Ns.
- % (All-EM) is the differential between minority ethnics and the overall population expressed as ((All-EM)/ All)\*100. It indicates the disadvantages of the minority ethnics relative to the general population in private sector employment.
- 4. The pooled data of Wave 1 respondents in each quarter of each year.

These are 'gross' differentials, and as with the correspondence testing and the analysis of job refusals and unfair treatment with respect to promotion, need to adjust for individual sociodemographic characteristics and geography (see Section 4.1.). This is done in Table 4.7, which shows the adjusted or 'net' figures.<sup>2</sup>

<sup>2</sup> In all three models, that is for men, women, and men plus women, ethnic minorities are significantly disadvantaged as compared with whites (p < 0.001). The results of the models are not presented here but are available on request. It is noted here that, in the adjusted figures shown in Table 4.7, we are not comparing ethnic minorities with whites but with the overall population. It is further noted here that in all following models from which the adjusted values are derived (Tables 4.9, 4.11 and the figures in Chapter 5) the ethnic minorities are significantly disadvantaged as compared with the whites at the 0.001 level.

							Perce	entage dif	ferentials
	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009
Men									
% (All–EM)	9.4	6.1	9.7	7.2	9.4	8.6	6.5	5.6	4.9
Women									
% (All-EM)	15.8	18.7	17.1	11.5	11.5	12.2	14.8	9.7	13.4
All									
% (All-EM)	12.3	11.0	12.8	8.9	10.6	10.3	9.9	7.5	8.6
Notes:									

### Table 4.7Adjusted trends in ethnic minority under-representation in the<br/>private sector, 2001-09

1. See notes to Table 4.6.

2. The adjusted figures are based on the predicted probabilities of private sector employment among the economically active derived from logistic regression models. The models control for age, age squared, gender, region, highest educational qualification and whether the qualifications were obtained overseas, marital status, number of dependent children, generation (1st versus 2nd or higher), and limiting long-term illness, with the values of the covariates set at their means. We ran separate regressions for men and women in order to take account of possible interaction effects with gender.

3. % (All-EM) refers to the differential between ethnic minority groups and the overall population expressed as ((All-EM)/All\*100). The figures indicate the disadvantages of the ethnic minority groups relative to the general population.

The net differentials turn out to be rather larger than the gross ones. This is not an uncommon occurrence in analysis of ethnic minorities in the labour market as their age profile means that they are at the peak ages for employment. Many ethnic minority groups, such as Indians, Chinese and black Africans, also have higher educational qualifications than does the population as a whole, while minorities are less likely to be resident in regions that have higher unemployment rates. The underlying extent of ethnic minority disadvantage can be masked by their high qualifications and concentration in high employment regions such as London.

Nevertheless, the adjusted trends tell the same story as the adjusted ones: there has been an improvement in ethnic minority employment in the private sector and the extent of under-representation was considerably reduced by 2009 from the 2001 level. (We have also checked the trends excluding young people under age 25, who are more vulnerable to unemployment. While the net differentials are somewhat smaller if we exclude young people, the trends are identical.) This narrowing of the differentials is also parallel to the trend shown in the official government figures on the ethnic minority employment gap.

A second outcome measure that we can construct is the differential access of ethnic minorities compared with the private-sector workforce as a whole to managerial positions in private-sector firms. For this comparison we take as our base only those people who are actually employed in private-sector firms. We then calculate what percentage of ethnic minority individuals who are private-sector employees are in managerial positions, and compare this with the overall percentage in such positions. In Table 4.8 we see that, in 2001, around 15 per cent of private-sector male employees overall were in managerial positions compared with only 12 per cent of ethnic minority private-sector male employees, yielding a gross differential of 22 per cent (12.1 being only 78 per cent of 15.5).

								Per	centages
	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009
Men									
White	15.7	16.6	16.2	16.3	16.0	16.5	16.5	17.0	16.6
EM	12.1	12.9	11.9	11.5	11.1	12.1	13.8	12.4	13.5
All	15.5	16.3	15.9	15.9	15.5	16.1	16.2	16.5	16.2
% (All–EM)	21.9	20.9	25.2	27.7	28.4	24.8	14.8	24.8	16.7
Women									
White	10.9	10.9	11.1	11.9	12.0	12.0	12.2	12.0	12.3
EM	8.4	8.3	8.4	8.4	9.6	10.0	8.0	8.8	8.8
All	10.7	10.7	10.9	11.7	11.8	11.9	11.8	11.7	12.0
% (All-EM)	21.5	22.4	22.9	28.2	18.6	16.0	32.2	24.8	26.7
Men and women									
White	13.6	14.0	13.9	14.3	14.2	14.5	14.6	14.8	14.7
EM	10.5	10.9	10.4	10.2	10.5	11.2	11.4	10.9	11.5
All	13.4	13.8	13.7	14.0	13.9	14.2	14.3	14.4	14.3
% (All-EM)	21.6	21.0	24.1	27.1	24.5	21.1	20.3	24.3	19.6
Base, All	34,410	33,353	32,241	31,060	31,426	29,834	30,017	28,951	26,122
Base, EM	2,140	2,240	2,291	2,337	2,512	2,626	2,649	2,876	2,465

### Table 4.8Trends in ethnic minority under-representation in managerial<br/>positions in the private sector, 2001-09

Notes:

1. The figures refer to the occupancy of managerial positions in the private sector among those employed in the sector. The managerial positions are defined as being composed of NS-SEC 1, 2, 5, 6 in the full 35 category version, based on Rose and Pevalin (2003, pp. 8-9). The four categories refer to employers in large establishments (enterprises employing 25 or more people), higher managers, lower managers, and higher supervisors respectively.

2. In order not to make the table too crowded, the Ns for men's and women's overall and EM subsamples are not shown but are available on request.

Again, it is important to adjust for age, education, region and so on, and this is done in Table 4.9.

							Percentage differentia				
	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009		
Men											
% (All–EM)	26.2	23.8	29.9	32.3	33.3	30.8	22.1	32.9	26.1		
Women											
% (All–EM)	28.0	26.2	27.6	31.6	24.3	20.0	37.6	27.5	31.1		
All											
% (All-EM)	25.9	23.7	28.2	31.2	29.4	26.0	26.8	30.5	27.6		

### Table 4.9Adjusted trends in ethnic minority under-representation in<br/>managerial positions in the private sector, 2001-09

Notes:

1. The adjusted figures are based on the predicted probabilities of private-sector managerial employment among those employed in the private sector. The figures are derived from logistic regressions controlling for age, age squared, gender, region, highest educational qualification and whether the qualification was obtained overseas, marital status, number of dependent children, generation (1st versus 2nd or higher), and limiting long-term illness, with the values of the covariates set at their means. We ran separate regressions for men and women in order to take account of possible interaction effects with gender.

 % (All-EM) refers to the differential between ethnic minorities and the overall population expressed as ((All-EM)/All\*100). The figures indicate the net disadvantages of ethnic minorities relative to the private sector workforce as a whole.

Both the adjusted and unadjusted trends are somewhat 'bumpy', reflecting the smaller sample sizes used in this particular analysis. However, both sets of figures show very little change over time. There is no sign of the kind of improvement that was evident for employment, and indeed the adjusted trend is, if anything, in the 'wrong' direction while the unadjusted trend is essential flat. We can formally test, both for the adjusted and unadjusted estimates, whether the white/ethnic minority differential has changed over time, and in neither case is the 2001-09 change statistically significant.

Finally, we can also calculate gross and adjusted hourly pay differentials in the private sector. Tables 4.10 and 4.11 show the trends over time in mean hourly pay. We have not adjusted the values for inflation, but the figures for the percentage differential (which following our standard practice sets the earnings for all private sector employees to 100) essentially removes the need to adjust for inflation.

									Pounds
	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009
Men									
White	10.22	10.60	10.92	11.13	11.69	12.11	12.52	13.01	13.38
EM	9.15	9.11	9.07	9.62	10.23	10.12	10.67	11.40	11.67
All	10.15	10.50	10.78	11.01	11.56	11.93	12.33	12.85	13.20
% (All–EM)	9.90	13.20	15.90	12.60	11.50	15.20	13.50	11.30	11.60
Women									
White	7.52	7.79	8.09	8.25	8.78	9.05	9.44	9.75	9.92
EM	7.97	7.75	8.46	8.36	8.68	9.22	9.43	9.74	10.80
All	7.55	7.78	8.11	8.26	8.77	9.06	9.44	9.75	10.00
% (All–EM)	-5.60	0.40	-4.30	-1.20	1.00	-1.80	0.10	0.10	-8.00
Men and women									
White	9.07	9.40	9.71	9.91	10.47	10.82	11.22	11.65	11.90
EM	8.69	8.57	8.82	9.10	9.60	9.75	10.19	10.71	11.34
All	9.04	9.34	9.64	9.84	10.39	10.72	11.13	11.55	11.85
% (All–EM)	3.90	8.20	8.50	7.50	7.60	9.00	8.40	7.30	4.30
Base, all	20,518	20,372	19,293	18,362	18,178	17,786	18,867	18,159	16,486
Base, EM	1,060	1,203	1,195	1,198	1,322	1,405	1,515	1,611	1,391

### Table 4.10Trends in mean hourly pay (£) in private sector employment by sex,<br/>2001-09

Notes:

1. % (All-EM) refers to the differential between the whole sample and the EM sample in terms of hourly pay calculated at ((All-EM)/All\*100).

The most striking result in Table 4.10 is that ethnic minority women in the private sector appear to earn, in gross terms, slightly more than the white women. However, ethnic minority women are more likely to work full-time than are the white women, and the hourly earnings of part-time workers are generally rather lower than those of full-time workers. When we adjust for this (and for the other factors that we routinely adjust for), we find that the usual picture is restored, with ethnic minority women suffering a substantial pay disadvantage in comparison with women's earnings generally (see Table 4.11). Even so, it remains true that the adjusted earnings differential is greater for ethnic minority men than it is for women. This further implies that the gender pay gap is less pronounced among ethnic minority private-sector employees than it is among white employees.

However, it is important to recognise one caveat (which applies to some extent to all our measures), namely that there may be some unmeasured biases as a result of differential participation in the labour market. Some ethnic minority groups, especially women from a Pakistani or Bangladeshi background, have relatively low participation rates in the labour market and those who do participate may, therefore, be a particularly selective group. This kind of process could in part explain why ethnic minority women appear to be somewhat less disadvantaged than ethnic minority men, at least with respect to earnings. Various econometric techniques can be employed to attempt to deal with this issue of selection bias, but they depend upon strong and unverifiable assumptions and we have decided, therefore, not to apply them.

							Perc	ferentials	
	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009
Men									
% (All–EM)	19.9	20.5	23.3	24.1	23.5	24.2	26.7	24.1	23.6
Women									
% (All–EM)	16.0	16.3	13.9	14.6	17.8	14.1	17.7	15.4	8.5
Men and women									
% (All-EM)	19.3	19.5	20.4	20.9	21.4	20.7	24.2	21.2	19.3

### Table 4.11Adjusted trends in mean hourly pay differentials in private sector<br/>employment by sex, 2001-09

Notes:

1. The adjusted figures are based on the predicted hourly earnings in private sector employment. The figures are derived from OLS regressions controlling for age, age squared, gender, region, highest educational qualification and whether the qualification was obtained overseas, marital status, number of dependent children, generation (1st versus 2nd or higher), limiting long-term illness, and full- or part-time employment (whether under or over 35 hours in basic usual work hours per week), with the values of the covariates set at their means. We ran separate regressions for men and women in order to take account of possible interaction effects with gender.

2. % (All-EM) refers to the differential between ethnic minority groups and the overall population expressed as ((All-EM)/All\*100). The figures indicate the net disadvantages of ethnic minorities relative to the general population.

As in the case of access to managerial positions, both adjusted and unadjusted differentials for earnings show essentially no change over time. Once again, there is quite a lot of variation from year to year, but as with management the change between the change between 2001 and 2009 in the white/ethnic minority differential is not statistically significant.

# 5 Can the private sector's contribution to reducing the ethnic minority employment gap be measured with existing data sources?

#### 5.1 Constructing a measure of how discrimination occurs

We believe that our review has indicated some useful tools that could be deployed in order to measure the private sector's contribution to reducing ethnic penalties, although in the absence of new data collection and indeed of new research on the effectiveness of the different practices, the tools currently available fall short of the ideal. In particular, there are weaknesses with all the tools for measuring the different components that contribute to ethnic penalties. We do not feel that it is possible at present, therefore, to construct a measure of how discrimination occurs or of annual figures enabling one to monitor direct discrimination by private-sector employers, their adherence to the statutory code and the extent to which they are proactive in working towards fair employment.

Firstly, the weaknesses of the Citizenship Survey (CS) items for measuring direct discrimination are that (a) they cannot be restricted to refusals or unfair treatment by private-sector employers alone, and (b) they are self-report measures and do not have the same validity as the correspondence testing. They are useful tools for monitoring one aspect of race inequality, especially as they are collected annually, but they could be criticised as components of a specifically private-sector measure.

Secondly, the strength of the Workplace Employment Relations Survey (WERS) measures is that they do directly tap some of the key requirements of the brief – how proactive are private-sector firms in tackling race inequality. They also have the great advantage that they can be directly related for the most part to practices specified in the Commission for Racial Equality's (CRE) statutory code of practice (although there are some important omissions). There are two problems, however, in that (a) the WERS is conducted only intermittently and does not, therefore, provide an appropriate vehicle for regular monitoring or for combination with other measures; and (b) the relative importance of the different WERS items for rectifying ethnic minority under-representation in private-sector firms is not well understood. The absence of items on the use of standard application forms and on the presence of an action plan specifying realistic targets and timetables is a pity. Nevertheless, the 2011 WERS will be a valuable tool for measuring trends since 2004 in how pro-active the private sector is and in determining whether the private sector is closing the gap with the public sector. It will, therefore, have an important monitoring function, even if it cannot be combined into a regular annual index.

Thirdly, the Fair Treatment at Work Survey (FTWS) in principle would be a valuable tool for measuring harassment and bullying at work. However, its weaknesses are (a) uncertainty as to whether it will be repeated and (b) our limited understanding of how important this particular component is for explaining ethnic minority under-representation. The British Social Attitudes survey (BSA) has the

### 34 Can the private sector's contribution to reducing the ethnic minority employment gap be measured with existing data sources?

advantage of being a regular annual survey, enabling trends in self-reported prejudice by co-workers to be monitored. But we think it could well be criticised on the grounds that, while prejudice is clearly an important topic in its own right, it is unclear how strong a relationship it has to harassment and bullying at the workplace. The sample sizes involved are also relatively small, leading to large sampling errors.

#### 5.2 Constructing an outcome measure of fair employment

Finally, we suggest that an index could be based on the three outcome measures outlined in Section 4.4, namely measures of ethnic minority under-representation in private-sector employment, under-representation in private sector managerial posts, and disparities in hourly earnings within the private sector. Such an index could be used to monitor trends over time and would thus fulfil one of the key requirements of the National Employment Panel (NEP) for regular monitoring. Such an index would have the advantages that it (a) is based on a highly-trusted source – the LFS; (b) can be calculated annually; (c) is based on outcomes rather than on procedures which may not be effective in practice, (d) covers outcomes that would widely be accepted as important, (e) is focused explicitly on the private sector, and (f) is easy to understand.

To construct such an index we would recommend using the three adjusted measures of the percentage differentials shown in Tables 4.7, 4.9 and 4.11. In all three cases we have set the figure for the population as a whole to 100 and then estimated the percentage difference between the ethnic minorities and the population. The simplest approach is then to give the three outcome measures equal weight. More sophisticated systems of weighting could also be explored. Take 2001 for example. The adjusted differential for employment in the private sector (after controlling for the socio-demographic and geographic factors age, age squared, gender, region, highest educational qualification and whether the qualifications were obtained overseas, marital status, number of dependent children, generation, and limiting long-term illness) was 12.3 per cent (see Table 4.7); for under-representation in managerial positions the adjusted differential was 25.9 per cent (see Table 4.9); and for hourly earnings it was 19.3 per cent (see Table 4.11). This then gives the value of 19.2 for our proposed index of race inequality in the private sector in 2001 ((12.3 + 25.9 + 19.3)/3).

Figure 5.1 shows the trends over time for the three individual components together with the overall index. We have also fitted linear trend lines for employment and access to management. Since higher scores on this index indicate greater ethnic disadvantage, we term this an index of race inequality.



Figure 5.1 The index of race inequality in the private sector 2001-09

The graphs for employment, access to managerial positions and for hourly pay correspond to the adjusted figures shown in Tables 4.7, 4.9 and 4.11. As was explained in Chapter 4, there was evidence for some improvement with respect to employment, the differential falling by around 0.50 points each year. However, the trends for access to management was in the opposite direction, the differential increasing by 0.33 points each year, while that for hourly earnings was essentially flat. The overall index, in consequence, is also effectively flat with no overall improvement in race equality in the private sector between 2001 and 2009.

We can also see that the individual graphs for the three components are rather 'bumpy', fluctuating somewhat from year to year (due to the small sample sizes especially for ethnic minorities in managerial positions). However, these year-to-year variations to some extent cancel out when we combine them in a single index, and the overall index is as a result much less bumpy.

In Figure 5.2 we have calculated the index separately for men and for women. As we can see, there is no systematic difference in the levels of race inequality for men and women, and the trends over time are effectively stable for both. Again, the separate indexes for men and women vary quite considerably from year to year, partly because the sample sizes are effectively cut in half. Overall, we feel that it is better simply to produce a single combined index with the advantage of larger sample sizes.



### Figure 5.2 The index of race inequality in the private sector by gender, 2001-09

The proposed index does, therefore, help to identify some clear patterns and real problems that need to be addressed:

- ethnic minorities continue to experience major disadvantages in the private sector with respect to employment, access to managerial positions, and earnings;
- there is some modest equalisation taking place over time with respect to private sector employment, but inequalities in access to managerial positions and in earnings show no sign of decline;
- both ethnic minority men and women experience these disadvantages, and do so more or less to the same extent.

However, we must emphasise that there are three potential weaknesses in this proposed index. Firstly, the weighting of the three components (employment, access to managerial positions, and earnings) is at present somewhat arbitrary.

Secondly, the adjustment method that we have used in order to match minorities and majoritygroup members for relevant individual characteristics and geography is not definitive. Plausible, but more complex, alternative methods of adjustment could be suggested, although we suspect that the alternatives would not change substantive conclusions about trends over time. (See Appendix B for a discussion of the adjustment methods.) A measure based on gross differentials rather than net or adjusted differentials would be simpler to explain and more transparent. It would also show very similar trends over time: an index based on the three gross differentials shows a decline from 11 per cent in 2001 to ten per cent in 2009. But such an index based on the gross differences would be open to criticism, in the same way that correspondence tests of discrimination would be criticised if they did not match majority and minority-group applicants for qualifications, skills and experience. We, therefore, feel that it is preferable to adjust for relevant individual characteristics and geography. Moreover, adjustment is by no means entirely unfamiliar in index construction, as for example with the seasonal adjustment employed in many economic time series.

Thirdly, the index is derived from sample surveys, using a differencing approach, and is, therefore, subject to sampling variation. It is important to recognise, therefore, that the index should be used with caution when making judgements about year-to-year variations and is better suited at present for measuring longer-term trends. However, we have been able to check whether the changes in the three separate components are statistically significant, and this provides a useful check on the confidence we can have in the year-to-year variations of the overall index.

# 6 Conclusions

We do not recommend the construction at present of an index attempting to combine measures of direct discrimination, indirect discrimination and the chill factor. Instead we recommend that trends in direct discrimination should be monitored using the Citizenship Survey (CS) and that the Government should explore whether the CS questions could be modified so as to permit the identification of job refusals and unfair treatment in promotion by sector.

We recommend that, when results from the Workplace Employment Relations Survey (WERS) become available after the 2011 fieldwork, analysis should be undertaken of trends over time in firms' adherence to the statutory code of practice, of the factors that predict adherence to the code, and the association between adherence to the code and fair employment outcomes. Such an analysis would enable the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) to fulfil some of the requirements of the National Employment Panel (NEP), specifically by measuring how pro-active the private sector is in tackling ethnic inequalities in employment and whether the private sector has been able to bridge the gap with the public sector in its adherence to the statutory code.

We recommend that the Government should explore the possibility of including questions on experience of harassment at work in a regular survey series, such as the CS, in order to monitor trends over time.

We conclude that an annual index could be constructed, based on our three outcome measures of ethnic minority under-representation in the private sector, under-representation in managerial positions, and disparities in hourly earnings. We recommend that further statistical work should be undertaken, fine tuning the adjustment procedures in our suggested index, and that there should be consultation with stakeholders. We would also suggest that the name of the index might be reconsidered: the term 'race' has many undesirable connotations and a name such as 'ethnic diversity index' might now be more appropriate.

Such an index has some limitations. In particular, its reliance on sample surveys means that there is some 'bumpiness' evident in the trends over time, and the index would have to be used with caution when measuring year-to-year variation. It is better suited to examining medium-term trends and the extent to which the private sector is converging with the public sector. The index would fulfil the requirements of the NEP for monitoring trends over time in progress towards race equality. As the NEP emphasised, monitoring is essential in order to determine whether there is a need for additional measures, such as perhaps the strengthened use of public procurement to encourage firms to make greater progress towards fair employment.

Our calculation of the index for the period 2001-09 suggests that there has been little overall progress, improvement with respect to employment being counterbalanced by lack of improvement elsewhere. Moreover, most of the sources that we have reviewed – the CS, the WERS and the Labour Force Survey (LFS) all tell a similar story to the correspondence testing of discrimination, showing that substantial ethnic penalties remain. The one exception is the Fair Treatment at Work Survey (FTWS) which did not show evidence of major ethnic inequalities in harassment at work. The main sources for which public/private sector differences can be established also show substantial differences between the public and private sectors.

# Appendix A The National Employment Panel's index

The National Employment Panel (NEP) commissioned Ipsos-MORI to conduct an employer survey during 2006/07. The survey was telephone based and reached 1,108 private sector firms. The survey questions focused on organisations' equal opportunities practices, with particular respect to ethnic minority employment. The purpose of the survey was to gauge the current and potential impact of the primary levers and tools often recommended for use to push forward race equality in the private sector. They did not, however, attempt to assess the actual leverage these levers have.

The NEP designed a Race Equality index from the survey in order to draw general conclusions on how proactive businesses are to promoting race equality in recruitment, retention and promotion. The index used answers from the following eight questions to classify firms as high, medium or low performing:

- 1 Written equal opportunities policy does this organisation have a formal written policy on equal opportunities or diversity?
- 2 Employment of ethnic minorities does this organisation currently have any ethnic minority employees?
- **3** Active awareness of local ethnic composition do you have any data on the ethnic composition of your local area?
- 4 **Employment in line with local labour composition** and is the proportion of ethnic minorities in your workforce in line with that of the local area in which you operate?
- 5 Equal opportunities training are any staff given training in equal opportunities?
- 6 Active internal monitoring does your organisation collect and monitor ethnic minority employment statistics.
- 7 Public reporting of ethnic monitoring does your organisation report publicly employment statistics and performance on employment of ethnic minorities/equal opportunities practices.
- 8 Using positive action does your organisations currently use positive action to increase the recruitment, retention and promotion of ethnic minorities?

The NEP counted employers as low performing if they scored positively only in two or less questions; as medium performing if they scored positively in three or four questions, and as high performing if they scored positively in five plus questions.

# Appendix B Adjusting for geography and individual characteristics

In the case of reported refusals, reported unfair treatment in promotion, ethnic minority underrepresentation in private-sector workplaces, and under-representation in managerial occupations, we carried out logistic regression. In the case of hourly earnings, we carried out linear regression.

In all these analyses we controlled for the same variables, namely:

- age;
- age squared;
- gender;
- region;
- highest educational qualification;
- generation (1st versus 2nd or higher);
- marital status;
- number of dependent children; and
- limiting long-term illness.

In addition, we used a variable measuring whether the respondent's highest qualification was obtained in the UK or abroad in the analysis of the Labour Force Survey (LFS) data. This variable was constructed by using information on year of arrival in the UK, the respondent's age, and the average age for obtaining the highest educational qualifications. As no information is available in the Citizenship Survey (CS) on time or age of arriving in the UK, no such variable could be constructed for the CS. We also included a binary variable contrasting ethnic minority respondents (defined as all the non-white categories, including mixed and other) with white respondents. We did not fit interaction terms, e.g. with gender or ethnicity, as separate models for men and women were constructed wherever needed. In analysing earnings data, we also controlled for full versus part-time working.

The rationale for including these variables is that they have all been shown in previous research to be significant predictors of labour market outcomes. Age and age squared are used as proxies for experience in the labour market (which cannot be directly measured in these datasets), age squared being included because of the well-known curvilinear relationship with some outcomes such as unemployment or earnings. There are of course well-known gender differences in labour market outcomes, and regional differences in for example unemployment rates. This is particularly important because of the important regional differences in the distribution of ethnic minorities.

Highest educational qualification is perhaps the single most important predictor of labour market outcomes, and is a key aspect of the human capital model. Additional measures of skills and training would have been desirable but are not available. Generation has also been shown to be important for ethnic minorities, with the second generation having generally better outcomes with respect to occupational position (although not with respect to unemployment) than the first generation. Marital status has well-known associations with labour market outcomes, although the precise mechanisms involved are not well understood. Number of dependent children is an important constraint for women's participation, while health status is important for both men and women. However, it could be argued that some of these variables are 'endogenous', that is they are consequences of labour market outcomes rather than causes. For example, unemployment may increase the risk of divorce, rather than the other way round. It could perhaps be argued, then, that marital status, number of dependent children and limiting long-term illness should not be included as control variables because of this possibility of endogeneity.

The adjusted figures are based on the predicted probabilities of whites and minorities respectively obtaining the given outcome, setting all other predictors to their overall mean values. To obtain the predicted probability for the population as a whole we took the weighted average of the white and ethnic minority predicted probabilities. In carrying out the adjustment, we allowed the effect of ethnicity to change from year to year (and tested for the significance of these changes) but assumed that the effects of the control variables remained constant over time as we do not have any theoretical reason for expecting these to change over this relatively short period.

There are several issues that are potentially problematic in our adjustment procedure and which would need to be explored in more depth.

Firstly, there are some additional individual-level predictors such as fluency in the English language that it would be desirable to include but which are not available in our datasets. The best we can do and have done in the analysis of the LFS data is, as explained above, to use information on British or overseas qualifications as the latter might not be viewed by employers as having the same productive potential as a British qualification. Holders of British qualifications are also very likely to have fluent English.

Secondly, there may well be interaction effects, for example between gender and other predictors, or between generation and various predictors. Previous research has suggested that the first generation minorities obtain lower returns on their education than do the second generation, who obtain similar returns to the white British with regard to class attainment (Cheung and Heath, 2007; Li and Heath, 2010). This probably reflects lack of language skills and/or foreign qualifications, so restricting the samples to those with British qualifications might be a good idea but the downside is that it would further reduce the sample size for the minority ethnic groups. On balance we feel that including a control for foreign qualifications is the best solution available given present data limitations but it would be desirable to check whether there are further interaction effects. In order to deal with gender interactions, we have run separate models for men and women when estimating the outcome models using the LFS.

Thirdly, there are some issues of selection, notably where we select only those respondents who are economically active for the analysis of employment profiles, or who are currently employed in the analysis of managerial positions or hourly earnings. One possibility would be to fit Heckman selection models. Again, there is no ideal approach, as Heckman selection models would require the inclusion of so-called 'identifying variables', namely, variables that affect the respondents' decision to enter the labour market but have no role to play once they are in the labour market. In analysis of race relations or in sociological analysis in general, it would be difficult to think of such identifying variables as our discussion of direct, indirect discrimination and of the chill factor has shown.

There are also questions about whether, when estimating the adjusted differentials, we should be using predicted probabilities, setting control variables to the overall mean, or whether we should be using average marginal effects.

In practice, we suspect that these issues are likely to affect the absolute values of our index rather than the estimates of the trends over time.

# References

Arrow, K.J. (1972). 'Some mathematical models of racial discrimination in the labour market', in Pascal, A.H. (ed). *Racial discrimination in economic life*, Lexington, Mass: D. C. Heath.

Arrow, K.J. (1998). 'What has economics to say about racial discrimination?' *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 12, 91-100.

Becker, G. (1957). The economics of discrimination. Chicago, Ill: Chicago University Press.

Cabinet Office (2003). Ethnic minorities and the labour market: final report. London: Strategy Unit.

Cheung, S.Y. and Heath, A.F. (2007). 'Nice work if you can get it: ethnic penalties in Great Britain', in Heath, A.F. and Cheung. S.Y. (eds), *Unequal chances: ethnic minorities in Western labour markets.* Proceedings of the British Academy 137, Oxford: Oxford University Press for the British Academy.

Clark, K. and Drinkwater, S. (1998). 'Ethnicity and self-employment in Britain'. Oxford Bulletin of *Economics and Statistics*, 60, 383-407.

Commission for Racial Equality (2005). *Statutory code of practice on race equality in employment*. London: CRE.

Communities and Local Government (2009). Improving opportunity, strengthening society: a third progress report on the Government's strategy for race equality and community cohesion. Volume 2 Race equality in public services – statistical Report. London: Department for Communities and Local Government.

Fevre, R., Nicholls, T., Prior, G. and Rutherford, I. (2009). The fair treatment at work report: findings from the 2008 survey. Employment Relations Research Series No. 103, London: BIS.

Grainger, H. and Fitzner, G. (2007). *Fair Treatment at Work Survey 2005*. Employment Relations Series No. 63, London: Department of Trade and Industry.

Heath, A. F. and Yu, S. (2005). 'The puzzle of ethnic minority disadvantage', in Heath, A. F., Ermisch, J. and Gallie, D. (eds), *Understanding social change*. Oxford: Oxford University Press for the British Academy.

Heath, A.F. and Cheung, S.Y. (2006). *Ethnic penalties in the labour market: Employers and discrimination*. Department for Work and Pensions Research Report No. 341. Published for the Department for Work and Pensions by Corporate Document Services, Leeds. www.dwp.gov.uk/asd/asd5/rrs2006.asp

Heath, A. and Li, Y. (2008). 'Period, life-cycle and generational effects on ethnic minority success in the labour market'. *Kölner Zeitschrift für Soziologie und Sozialpsychologie*, 48, 277-306.

Heath, A.F. and Li, Y. (2007). *Measuring the size of the employer contribution to the ethnic minority employment gap*. Research report for the National Employment Panel. http://www.ccsr.ac.uk/staff/yaojun/nep.pdf

Hoque, K. and Noon, M. (2004). 'Equal opportunities policy and practice in Britain: evaluating the 'empty shell' hypothesis'. *Work, Employment and Society*, 18, 481-506.

Kalev, A. and Dobbin, F. (2006). 'Enforcement of civil rights law in private workplaces: the effects of compliance reviews and lawsuits over time'. *Law and Social Inquiry*, 31, 855-903.

Kalev, A., Dobbin, F. and Kelly, E. (2006). 'Best practices or best guesses? Assessing the efficacy of corporate affirmative action and diversity policies'. *American Sociological Review*, 71, 589-617.

Li, Y. and Heath, A. (2010). 'Struggling onto the ladder, climbing the rungs: employment status and class position by minority ethnic groups in Britain (1972-2005)', in Stillwell, J., Norman, P., Thomas, C. and Surridge, P. (eds). *Population, Employment, Health and Well-being*, Springer, pp: 83-97.

Li, Y. and Heath, A.F. (2008). 'Minority ethnic men in the British labour market (1972-2005)'. *International Journal of Sociology and Social Policy*, 28, 231-244.

McCrudden, C., Muttarak, R., Heath, A.F. and Hamill, H. (2010). 'Affirmative action without quotas in Northern Ireland'. *The Equal Rights Review*, 4, 7-14.

McLaren, L. and Johnson, M. (2004). 'Understanding the rising tide of anti-immigrant sentiment', in Park, A., Curtice, J., Bromley, C. and Phillips, M. (eds). *British Social Attitudes. The 21st Report*, London: Sage.

National Employment Panel (2007). 60/76 The Business Commission on race Equality in the Workplace. London: National Employment Panel/DWP.

Noon, M. (2007). 'The fatal flaws of diversity and the business case for ethnic minorities'. *Work, Employment and Society*, 21, 773-84.

Noon, M. and Hoque. K. (2001). 'Ethnic minorities and equal treatment: the impact of gender, equal opportunities policies and trade unions'. *National Institute Economic Review*, 176, 105-127.

Petersen, T., Saporta, I. Seidel, M-D. L. (2000). 'Offering a job: meritocracy and social networks'. *American Journal of Sociology*, 106, 763-816.

Race for Opportunity (2010). 'The RfO Aspiration & Frustration Report'. http://www.bitc.org.uk/workplace/diversity\_and\_inclusion/race/aspfrust.html

Rose, D. and Pevalin, D. (2003). (eds) A researcher's guide to the national statistics socio-economic classification. London: Sage.

Wood, M., Hales, J., Purdon, S., Sejersen, T. and Hayllar, O. (2009). A test for racial discrimination in *recruitment practice in British cities*. DWP Research Report No. 607. Published for the Department for Work and Pensions by Corporate Document Services, Leeds.

If you would like to know more about DWP research, please contact: Paul Noakes, Commercial Support and Knowledge Management Team, Work and Welfare Central Analysis Division, 3rd Floor, Caxton House, Tothill Street, London SW1H 9NA. http://research.dwp.gov.uk/asd/asd5/rrs-index.asp



**DWP** Department for Work and Pensions

Published by the Department for Work and Pensions October 2010 www.dwp.gov.uk Research report no. 695 ISBN 978-1-84712-844-7